

2023
Annual Report

Year ended 31 December

CORPORATE DIRECTORY

DIRECTORS

Ms Anna Neuling (Non-Executive Chair)
Mr David Chapman (Non-Executive Director)
Mr Keith Liddell (Non-Executive Director)
Mr Stephen Quantrill (Executive Director)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms Abby Macnish Niven

AUDITORS

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) Level 4, 130 Stirling Street Perth WA 6000

SOLICITORS

Semepreis Paganin Level 4, The Read Buildings 16 Milligan Street Perth WA 6000

BANKERS

National Australia Bank Limited Leval 32, 100 Miller Street North Sydney NSW 2060

REGISTERED OFFICE

Tombador Iron Limited Suite 1, Level 1 3 Ord Street West Perth WA 6005

SHARE REGISTRY

Automic Registry Services Level 5, 191 St Georges Terrace Perth WA 6000

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

The Company's shares are listed and quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange Limited ("ASX"). ASX code: TI1

WEBSITE ADDRESS:

www.tombadoriron.com

CONTENTS

Corporate Directory	2
Chairman's Address	4
Directors' Report	5
Auditor's Independence Declaration	26
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	27
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	28
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	29
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	30
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	31
Director's Declaration	71
Independent Auditor's Report	72
Additional ASX Information	76



CHAIRMAN'S ADDRESS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to provide the 2023 Annual Report for Tombador Iron Ltd for the period 1 January – 31 December 2023 to all of our valued stakeholders.

The 2023 year has been a period of challenge and change for the Company following the geotechnical event on 30 June 2023. The initial assessment from the geotechnical event was that it would have an immaterial impact on production over the September 2023 quarter, but as a further detailed assessment was carried out by our mining team and taking into account the preliminary advice of the Company's independent geotechnical consultants, it became clear that additional cutback operations and geotechnical works were required for safety reasons that would impact on the Company's production and cost structures for a significant ongoing period.

The Board visited the project and ultimately a decision was made by the Company to suspend mining operations at the Tombador Project. This decision was deeply considered and was a result of the flow on impacts of the geotechnical event on 30 June 2023 following a full assessment and review. The assessment included consideration of market conditions and preservation of the Company's financial position in light of operational uncertainty.

During the suspension of operations, the Company received an offer to acquire the Tombador Iron project from PJ INVESTIMENTOS E PARTICPAÇÕES LTDA. The Company accepted the offer after a thorough and diligent evaluation with the primary aim of preserving value to shareholders. Following the acceptance of the offer and approval from the Tombador Iron Ltd shareholders at a shareholder meeting on 27 December 2023, the sale was completed.

As the Company now does not own a significant asset, the voluntary suspension from trading on the ASX will remain in place until such time that an asset is identified, the company receives shareholder approval for the acquisition and completes the ASX relisting requirements as needed.

The Company has reviewed all ongoing costs and reduced its administrative spend as much as possible to ensure maximum flexibility for business development.

The Company is in a strong position looking forward with \$11.02M of cash as at 31 May 2024 and is proactively progressing its assessment of new projects with the aim to update shareholders once the new projects have reached an appropriate stage for announcement.

The hard work by the Tombador team and the support shown by our shareholders and other stakeholders has been appreciated through this challenging time.

Sincerely,

Anna Neuling

Non-Executive Chair



DIRECTORS' REPORT

Your directors submit their report on the Group consisting of Tombador Iron Limited ("Tombador") and the entities it controlled (the "Group") for the year ended 31 December 2023. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report is as follows:

1. **Directors**

previous three years

The names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of each person who has been a Director during the year and to the date of this report are:

Ms Anna Neuling	Non-Executive Chairman (Appointed 25 September 2020) Ms Neuling is currently a Non-Executive Director of ASX-listed S2 Resources Ltd. Prior to moving to Non-Executive Director in August 2022, Anna was Executive Director of S2 Resources Ltd since it demerged from Sirius Resources Limited as part of the Sirius merger with IGO in 2015. Anna has held various roles at Sirius since its inception and was Executive Director — Corporate and Commercial at the time of the \$2.7 billion merger.
Qualifications and Experience	Ms Neuling has twenty years of experience in financial and corporate roles in the resources industry with ASX listed companies including LionOre Mining International, Antipa Minerals Ltd and Avoca Resources Ltd. Prior to that, Anna worked at Deloitte in London and Perth.
	Ms Neuling is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Anna also holds a degree in mathematics from the University of Newcastle (UK).
	Shares: 5,000,000 indirectly held.
Interest in shares, options and performance rights	Performance Rights: 750,000 indirectly held (expiry date: 31 May 2025). Performance Rights: 1,500,000 (expiry date: 22 December 2024) indirectly held.
Other directorships in	Non-Executive Director (Non-Executive Chair since April 2023) of MLG Oz Ltd (ASX:MLG) from 23 March 2021 to current.
listed entities held in the previous three years	Non-Executive Director of CZR Resources Ltd (ASX:CZR) from 2 November

2020 to 25 September 2021.



1. Directors (continued)

Mr Stephen Quantrill

Qualifications and Experience

Executive Director (Appointed 20 February 2018, previously Non-Executive)

Mr Quantrill is a chartered engineer with over 25 years of international experience in multifaceted roles in business ownership, company Chairmanships and Directorships. His experience as a business leader, shareholder and advisor has encompassed public and private equity investments in energy and natural resource companies, investment, financial and engineering services, property and bio-technology.

Stephen is the former Executive Chairman of McRae Investments, the diversified investment holding company established by Harold Clough in 1965. He holds a Bachelor of Science (Civil Engineering), Bachelor of Commerce, and a Master of Business Administration, all awarded with first class honours. He is a Fellow of FINSIA, a Graduate Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and an Engineering Executive Member of Engineers Australia

Interest in shares, options and performance rights

Shares: 4,000,000 indirectly held.

Performance Rights: 1,500,000 indirectly held (expiry date: 31 May 2025).

Performance Rights: 3,000,000 (expiry date: 22 December 2024) indirectly held. Non-Executive Director of NeuroScientific Biopharmaceuticals (ASX: NSB) from 13 February 2015 to 5 December 2023.

Other directorships in listed entities held in the previous three years

Mr Keith Liddell

Qualifications and Experience

Non-Executive Director (Appointed 25 September 2020)

Mr Liddell is an experienced metallurgical engineer, founder and chair of listed and unlisted companies including founder chairman of Sally Malay Mining Ltd (now Panoramic Resources Ltd) and Mineral Securities Ltd (resource investment house) and former managing director of Aquarius Platinum Ltd.

Mr Liddell has raised over \$1 billion of equity and has taken numerous resource projects from exploration to production.

Interest in shares, options and performance rights

Other directorships in listed entities held in the previous three years

Shares: 20,479,936 directly held.

Performance Rights: 750,000 directly held (expiry date: 31 May 2025). Performance Rights: 1,500,000 (expiry date: 22 December 2024) directly held.

Non-Executive Chair of Lifezone Metals Limited (NYSE:LZM) from 5 July 2023.



1. Directors (continued)

Mr David Chapman

Non-Executive Director (Appointed 25 September 2020)

Qualifications and Experience

Mr Chapman brings over 40 years resource industry experience as a geologist in senior and executive management roles with WMC Resources Ltd and the junior sector within Australia and overseas. His experience covers operations, exploration project management and construction, business development and project financing.

Mr Chapman has spent much of his professional career on exploration and project development in Brazil and is a fluent Portuguese speaker. He was a Director of WMC Resources Brazil office from 1991 to 2000 where he was responsible for exploration programs for gold and base metals throughout Brazil and French Guiana. He was later involved in the financing and construction of a significant base metal operation in Brazil. Through these activities he has developed and retains a strong industry network within Brazil and South America.

Interest in shares, options and performance rights

Shares: 3,400,000 indirectly held.

Performance Rights: 750,000 indirectly held (expiry date: 31 May 2025). Performance Rights: 1,500,000 (expiry date: 22 December 2024) indirectly

held

Other directorships in listed entities held in the previous three years

Non-Executive Director Taruga Minerals Limited from 1 October 2021 to

current.

2. Company Secretary/Chief Financial Officer

Ms Abby Macnish Niven

Appointed 1 May 2020

Experience

Abby Macnish Niven (BComm, BSc, CFA, GAICD) has held the role of Company Secretary since April 2020. Ms Macnish Niven has over eighteen years' experience in the finance industry in Australia. She holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree with a double major in Commerce and Science, is a CFA Charterholder and is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. She has also completed the Certificate in Governance Practice.

Interest in shares, options and performance rights

Shares: 2,925,000 indirectly held.

3. Chief Executive Officer

Mr Gabriel Oliva A

Appointed 29 July 2020, Notice of discharge effective 1 December 2023.

Gabriel Oliva is a Brazilian mining and contract law specialist with significant experience in mining start-ups and project financing. Mr Oliva holds a Bachelor's Degree in Law and is a member of the Brazilian Bar Association (OAB/RJ), and a board member of the Shippers Association of Bahia – USUPORT.

His previous experience includes corporate legal counsel and business manager for Colomi Iron Mineracao and in-house lawyer responsible for Brazilian financing package for the Santa Rita Nickel Mine (TSX). Mr Oliva has experience in the development of various other junior mining companies exploring for minerals such as nickel, iron, kaolin and manganese.

Interest in shares, options and Performance rights

Shares: 4,500,000 directly held.



4. Principal Activities

Tombador Iron Limited is an Australian publicly listed company that owned 100% of the Tombador Iron Mineracao high grade iron ore project in Bahia State, Brazil. The Company sold its project in December 2023.

5. Operating Results

The loss for the Group for the 12-month period ended 31 December 2023 from continuing operations after providing for income tax amounted to \$2,407,530 (31 December 2022 loss: \$3,003,800). The Group made a loss for the 12-month period ended 31 December 2023 from discontinuing operations of \$18,040,437 (31 December 2022 profit: \$13,904,102) and this related to the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary, Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda which held the mining concession, "Portaria nº 165/SGM/MME", which comprises the Tombador Iron Ore Project.

At the reporting date the Group had cash and cash equivalents of \$8,616,606 (31 December 2022: \$14,182,028) and a net asset position of \$13,178,616 (31 December 2022: \$36,272,727).

6. Review of Operations

During the reporting period, the Company produced 518,200 wet metric tonnes ("wmt") of high-grade ore from the Tombador Mineração iron ore project ("Tombador Project" or the "Project") in the State of Bahia, Brazil.

Following a strong H1 2023, on 30 June 2023, an unexpected geotechnical event had a significant impact on ex-pit ore mining and the Company's ability to achieve and maintain sustainable production rates and sales. Production was therefore constrained through H2 2023. Operational constraints from additional pit wall cutback activities, a geotechnical works program, shallower pit slopes, and safety measures further restricted mine production. In response and given the uncertainty of project economics, on 11 October 2023 the Company announced that the Board had decided to suspend mining operations at the Tombador Project after careful consideration of safety and geotechnical advice, market conditions, and project economics.

As the Company entered discussions with its contractors, suppliers and customers regarding the suspension, it received an offer from PJ INVESTIMENTOS E PARTICPAÇÕES LTDA, which is partly affiliated with the project's mining contractor, to purchase the Company's Brazilian assets associated with the Tombador Iron Project. On 25 October 2023, the Company announced that it had accepted the offer to acquire the Tombador Iron Project, subject to shareholder approvals. The offer was accepted to preserve value to shareholders and considered the risks and costs associated with retaining and operating the project.

Production after 31 October 2023 was not attributable to the Company as the handover of the Project to PJ INVESTIMENTOS E PARTICPAÇÕES LTDA commenced on 1 November 2023. Therefore the 518,200 wet metric tonnes ("wmt") of high-grade ore produced from the Tombador Project was produced during the 10-month period commencing 1 January 2023 and ending 31 October 2023,

The Company held an Extraordinary General Meeting on 27 December 2023 where the sale of the Tombador Iron Project was approved by shareholders, allowing the Company to finalize the sale process.



Tenements

The Company's interests in tenement number 872.431/2003 ceased in December 2023 as part of the sale of the Tombador Iron project to PJ INVESTIMENTOS E PARTICPAÇÕES LTDA.

Mining Operations

The Tombador crushing and screening plant produced a total of 518,200 wmt for the period 1 January 2023 to 31 October 2023. The production comprised 280,400 wmt of lump product and 237,800 wmt of fines product. Production after 31 October 2023 was not attributable to the Company as the handover of the Project to PJ INVESTIMENTOS E PARTICPAÇÕES LTDA commenced on 1 November 2023.

Production was constrained through H2 2023 due to the previously stated geotechnical event and related operational limitations.

As at 31 October 2023, there was approximately 413,129 tonnes of product on stockpiles at the mine and port which was transferred as part of the sale.

Logistics

The Company continued to transport product from the Tombador mine to local customers via public roads using haulage contractors. For export customers, truck haulage services were also contracted for the ~700km route from the Tombador Project to the TMIB and ENSEADA ports. The port operators were contracted to provide stockpile storage capacity, material handling and ship loading services. The TMIB port near Aracaju is able to load shipments of 38,000 tonnes/shipment and the ENSEADA port near Salvador is capable of loading larger 45,000 tonne ships.

Sales and Marketing

During the period 1 January 2023 to 31 October 2023, the Company sold a total of 662,100 wmt of lump and fines product to the export and local Brazil market. The sales comprised 214,400 wmt of lump and 195,800 wmt of fines to the local Brazil market and 112,000 wmt of lump and 139,900 wmt of fines to the export market.

There were no export sales in H2 2023. This reflected the lower prevailing iron prices and expected lower realizable margins for this period. The constrained production from July 2023 further contributed to lower overall sales in H2 2023.

The Company actively explored market opportunities to sell fines product from stockpiles into the export market, however the prevailing market conditions, including higher freight and logistics costs, meant that suitable buyers could not be secured before 31 October 2023 at acceptable realizable margins.

From 1 November 2023 sales were the responsibility of PJ INVESTIMENTOS E PARTICIPAÇÕES LTDA. The Company will receive a royalty of 4.25% on gross revenue from iron ore sales of direct ship ores under the agreed sales agreement.

7. Dividends Paid or Recommended

No dividend has been recommended by the Board for the 12 months to December 2023 (December 2022: \$5,983,551).



8. Events Occurring after the Reporting Date

On the 29 May 2024, the Group received its 6th and final payment of the consideration of 10,000,000 BRL from the sale of their 100% equity interest in its wholly owned subsidiary, Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda. The only outstanding receivable relating to the sale as at 13 June 2024 is the tax refund which is subject to the Federal Government of Brazil approval.

Other than the matters noted above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the twelve-month period ended 31 December 2023 which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operating of the Group, the results of those operations, or state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

9. Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations

The Company will continue with its strategy as set out in the operations update above.

10. Environmental Regulation

Tombador seeks to incorporate Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) principles into all components of its daily operations, investment evaluation processes and long-term strategy.

To deliver sustainable value to its investors and, consistent with that aim, Tombador has adopted an ESG Investment Policy to guide the company's consideration of ESG issues in its investment decision-making process. Consistent with the ESG Investment Policy, Tombador works to fully understand potential sustainability risks and opportunities to better inform its ongoing operations, strategy and investment decisions.

11. Proceedings on behalf of the Group

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

12. Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors

Indemnity and insurance of Officers

The Group has given an indemnity or entered into an agreement to indemnify directors and officers of the Group against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred in defending legal proceedings arising from conduct while acting in the capacity as a director or officer of the Group, other than conduct involving a wilful breach. During the financial year, the Group paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and officer of the Group against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

No liability has arisen under these indemnities as at the date of the report.

Indemnity and insurance of Auditor

The Group has not, during or since the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2023, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the Group or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the Group or any related entity.



13. Non-audit Services

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for services provided during financial year ended 31 December 2023 by the auditor are outlined in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no non-audit services provided during the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

14. Auditor's Independence Declaration

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 26.

15. Significant changes in the state of affairs

On 30 June 2023, an unexpected geotechnical event had a significant impact on ex-pit ore mining and the Company's ability to achieve and maintain sustainable production rates and sales. Production was constrained through H2 2023.

On 11 October 2023, the Company announced that the Board had decided to suspend mining operations at the Tombador Project after careful consideration of safety and geotechnical advice, market conditions, and project economics.

On 25 October 2023, the Company announced that it had accepted an offer to sell the Tombador Iron Project, subject to shareholder approvals. The offer was accepted to preserve value to shareholders and considered the risks and costs associated with retaining and operating the project.

The Company held an Extraordinary General Meeting on 27 December 2023 where the sale of the Tombador Iron Project was approved by shareholders, allowing the Company to finalize the sale process.

Other than the above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen during the 12-month period ended 31 December 2023 which have significantly affected the operating of the Company, the results of those operations, or state of affairs of the Company.

For a detailed discussion about the performance and financial position of the Group, please refer to our operating and financial review on pages 8-9.

16. Material Business Risks

The Group's mining operations were subject to the normal risks of mining and any revenues will be subject to numerous factors beyond the Group's control. The material business risks that may affect the Group are summarised below:

Regulatory Risk

The Group's former operations are subject to various Brazilian Federal, State and local laws and plans, including those relating to mining, prospecting, development permit and licence requirements, industrial relations, environment, land use, royalties, water, native title and cultural heritage, mine safety and occupational health. Approvals, licences and permits required to comply with such rules are subject to the discretion of the applicable government officials. No assurance can be given that the Group will be successful in maintaining such authorisations in full force and effect without modification or revocation. To the extent such approvals are required and not retained or obtained in a timely manner or at all, the Group may be curtailed or prohibited from continuing with production and exploration. The Group's business and results of operations could be adversely affected if applications lodged for additional mining and exploration licences are not granted. Exploration tenements are subject to periodic renewal. The renewal of the term of a granted tenement is also subject to the discretion of the relevant National Mining Agency. Renewal conditions may include increased expenditure and work commitments or compulsory relinquishment of areas of the



tenements comprising the Group's projects. The imposition of new conditions or the inability to meet those conditions may adversely affect the financial position of the Group in relation to the royalty income stream.

Taxation

The Group operated in three tax jurisdictions (Australia, Brazil and Singapore) during the year and is subject to their tax laws and regulations.

In all places where the Group has operations, in addition to the normal level of income tax imposed on all industries, the Group may be required to pay government royalties, indirect taxes, goods and services tax and other imposts which generally relate to revenue or cash flows. Industry profitability can be affected by changes in government taxation policies.

Foreign exchange

The Group undertakes all its operational transactions in foreign currency (Brazilian Rial [BRL] and US dollars [USD]) and is exposed to foreign currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The entity currently has not entered into spot or short-term forward exchange contracts or structured foreign currency option arrangements.

Commodity Prices

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk, as its royalty income is based on iron ore sales which are predominantly subject to prevailing market prices. The entity has limited ability to directly influence market prices of iron ore.

Macro-Economic Risks

The operating and financial performance of the Group is influenced by a variety of general economic and business conditions, including levels of consumer spending, oil prices, inflation, interest rates and exchange rates, supply and demand, industrial disruption, access to debt and capital markets and government fiscal, monetary and regulatory policies. Changes in general economic conditions may result from many factors including government policy, international economic conditions, significant acts of terrorism, hostilities or war or natural disasters.

A prolonged deterioration in general economic conditions, including a decrease in the iron ore price or a decrease in consumer and business demand, could be expected to have an adverse impact on the Group's operating and financial performance and financial position. The Group's future possible revenues and share price can be affected by these factors, which are beyond the control of the Group.

Force Majeure

The Group's royalty income stream from the Tombador project may be adversely affected by risks outside the control of the Group, including labour unrest, civil disorder, war, subversive activities or sabotage, fires, floods, pandemics (e.g. COVID-19), explosions or other catastrophes, epidemics or quarantine restrictions.



17. Meetings of Directors

Formal meetings and meetings conducted by circular resolutions of the Directors held during the financial year were as follows:

Directors' Meetings

	Number eligible to attend	Number attended
Ms Anna Neuling	14	14
Mr Stephen Quantrill	14	14
Mr David Chapman	14	13
Mr Keith Liddell	14	14

18. Shares under Option

21,500,000 shares were issued on the exercise of performance rights during the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

At date of this report, the Company had the following options and performance rights on issue:

• TI1 AA: 4,750,000 unlisted options exercisable at \$0.052 expiring on 14 October 2025

TI1AE: 2,125,000 performance rights expiring on 1 September 2025
 TIPR24: 7,500,000 performance rights expiring on 22 December 2024
 TIPR25: 3,750,000 performance rights expiring on 31 May 2025



19. Remuneration Report (Audited)

The remuneration report details the key management personnel remuneration agreements for the Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its regulations. The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308 (3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. The Remuneration Report details the remuneration arrangements for Key Management Personnel ("KMP"). KMP in 2023 comprised the Chief Executive Officer and other key executives (Executive KMP), as well as non-executive directors.

Name of Director	Position	Date Appointed	Date Ceased
Ms Anna Neuling	Non-executive Chair	25 September 2020	Current
Mr David Chapman	Non-executive Director	25 September 2020	Current
Mr Stephen Quantrill	Executive Director	21 May 2021	Current
Mr Keith Liddell	Non-executive Director	25 September 2020	Current
Mr Gabriel Oliva	Chief Executive Officer	29 July 2020	1 December 2023
Ms Abby Macnish Niven	Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary	1 May 2020	Current

There have been no other changes after the reporting date and up to the date that the financial report was authorised for issue.



The Remuneration Report is set out under the following main headings:

Α	Remuneration Philosophy
---	-------------------------

- B Remuneration Governance, Structure and Approvals
- C Remuneration and Performance
- D Details of Remuneration
- E Contractual Arrangements
- F Share-based Compensation
- G Equity Instruments Issued on Exercise of Remuneration Options, Performance Rights and

Performance Shares

- H Voting and comments made at the Company's 2022 Annual General Meeting
- I Loans with KMP
- J Other transactions with KMP



A Remuneration Philosophy

KMP have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.

The Group's broad remuneration policy is to ensure the remuneration package properly reflects the person's duties and responsibilities and that remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people of the highest quality.

B Remuneration Governance, Structure and Approvals

Remuneration of Directors is currently set by the Board of Directors. The Board has not established a separate Remuneration Committee at this point in the Group's development. It is considered that the size of the Board along with the level of activity of the Group renders this impractical. The Company did engage a tax advisor for tax advice relating to proposed Director long term incentive awards. The Board, acting as a Remuneration Committee, is primarily responsible for:

- The over-arching executive remuneration framework;
- Operation of the incentive plans which apply to executive directors and senior executives, including key performance indicators and performance hurdles;
- Remuneration levels of executives; and
- Non-Executive Director fees.

Their objective is to ensure that remuneration policies and structures are fair and competitive and aligned with the long-term interests of the Group.

Non-Executive Remuneration Structure

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors consists of Board and Committee fees. The total aggregate fixed sum per annum to be paid to Non-Executive Directors shall be no more than \$500,000 as detailed in the Company's Constitution, which was approved by ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in General Meeting held on 17 November 2022.

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is based on fees approved by the Board and is set at levels to reflect market conditions and encourage the continued services of the Directors. The chair's fees are determined independently to the fees of the Non-Executive Director's based on comparative roles in the external market.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is detailed in Table 1 and their contractual arrangements are disclosed in "Section E — Contractual Arrangements". Remuneration may also include an invitation to participate in share-based incentive programmes in accordance with Company policy.

The nature and amount of remuneration is collectively considered by the Board of Directors with reference to relevant employment conditions and fees commensurate to a company of similar size and level of activity, with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of high-performing Directors.



Executive Remuneration Structure

The nature and amount of remuneration of executives are assessed on a periodic basis with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of high-performance Directors.

The main objectives sought when reviewing executive remuneration is that the Company has:

- Coherent remuneration policies and practices to attract and retain Executives;
- Executives who will create value for shareholders;
- Competitive remuneration offered benchmarked against the external market; and
- Fair and responsible rewards to Executives having regard to the performance of the Group, the
 performance of the Executives and the general pay environment.

Refer below for details of Executive Directors' remuneration.

C Remuneration and Performance

The following table shows the gross revenue, profit/(loss), earnings per share ("EPS") and share price of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2023. The prior period relate to 12 months ended 31 December 2022.

	12 months ended 31 December 2023	12 months ended 30 31 December 2022
Revenue	-	-
Other Income (\$)	178,020	138,143
Net profit/(loss) after tax (\$)	(20,447,967)	10,900,302
EPS (cents per share)	(0.95)	0.51
Share price (cents)	1.4	2.6

Relationship between Remuneration and Company Performance

Given the current position of the Company and the sale of the main asset, the Board does not consider earnings during the year ended 31 December 2023 when determining, and in relation to, the nature and amount of remuneration of KMP.

The pay and reward framework for key management personnel may consist of the following areas:

- a) Fixed Remuneration base salary
- b) Variable Short-Term Incentives
- c) Variable Long-Term Incentives

The combination of these would comprise the key management personnel's total remuneration.

a) Fixed Remuneration – Base Salary

The fixed remuneration for each KMP is influenced by the nature and responsibilities of each role and knowledge, skills and experience required for each position. Fixed remuneration provides a base level of remuneration which is market competitive and comprises a base salary inclusive of statutory superannuation or equivalent in the place of employment. It is structured as a total employment cost package.

Key management personnel are offered a competitive base salary that comprises the fixed component of pay and rewards. External remuneration consultants may provide analysis and advice to ensure base pay is set to reflect the market for a comparable role.

There is no guaranteed pay increase included in any key management personnel's contract.



b) Variable Remuneration – Short -Term Incentives (STI)

Discretionary cash bonuses may be paid to KMP annually, subject to the requisite Board and shareholder approvals where applicable. No cash bonuses were paid to KMP's during the financial year.

For the 31 December 2023 financial year, there are no discretionary cash bonus payments payable.

c) Variable Remuneration – Long-Term Incentives (LTI)

Options

There have been no options issued to employees at the date of this financial report.

Employee Securities Incentive Plan

The Employee Securities Incentive Plan ("Plan") was adopted by the Group at the 12 November 2021 Annual General Meeting ("AGM").

The current Plan provides the Board with the discretion to issue securities to eligible participants which will vest subject to the achievement of performance hurdles as determined by the Board from time to time.

The objective of the Plan is to attract, motivate and retain KMPs and it is considered by the Group that the Plan and the future issue of Performance Rights under the Plan will provide selected participants with the opportunity to participate in the future growth of the Group. The Plan will enable the Group to make grants to Eligible Participants so that long-term incentives form a key component of their total annual remuneration.

The Board believes that grants under the Plan will serve a number of purposes including:

- to act as a key retention tool; and
- to focus attention on future shareholder value generation.

During the financial period the Company issued 3,750,000 unlisted performance rights (with an expiry date of 31 May 2025) to KMP's.

Any grants under the Plan will be subject to the achievement of KPIs. Appropriate KPIs may be formulated for each Eligible Participant to participate in the Plan based on their role and responsibilities in the Group.



D Details of Remuneration

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of the remuneration of each KMP of the Group during the financial year are:

Table 1 – Remuneration of KMP of the Group for the 12-month period ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

		t-term efits	Post- employment benefits	Share based payments		
31 December 2023	Salary and fees	Bonuses	Superannuation	Other	Total	Performance related
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	%
Non-Executive Directors						
Ms Anna Neuling	60,000	-	-	40,503	100,503	42%
Mr David Chapman	50,000	-	-	40,503	90,503	46%
Mr Keith Liddell	67,561	-	-	40,503	108,064	39%
Executive KMP						
Mr Stephen Quantrill	200,004	-	-	71,631	271,635	28%
Mr Gabriel Oliva ⁽ⁱ⁾	373,640	-	-	14,063	387,703	4%
Ms Abby Macnish Niven	195,000			4,688	199,688	2%
Total	946,205	-	-	211,891	1,158,096	18%

(i) On 1 December 2023, Gabriel Oliva was given a notice of discharge in accordance with his contract.

During the current financial year, the Group made payments to the following companies:

- \$60,000 to Erasmus Consulting Pty Ltd, an entity related to Chairperson Anna Neuling.
- \$50,000 to Parati Pty Ltd, an entity related to Director David Chapman.
- The USD equivalent of AUD\$67,561 to Keshel Consult Limited, an entity related to Director Keith Liddell.
- \$253,577 to McRae Investments, an entity related to Director Stephen Quantrill. The payments were
 for directors' fees (\$200,004) and rental of office space and shared facilities and travel expenses
 (\$53,573).
- \$213,462 to CAMS Advisory Pty Ltd, an entity related to CFO/Company Secretary Abby Macnish for Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary services (\$195,000) and accounting services and travel expenses (\$18,462), \$19,250 was included in trade payables at 31 December 2023.

Mr Keith Liddell is paid in USD. Mr Gabriel da Cunha is paid in BRL. Their salary and fees have been translated using average rates.

All of the related party payments noted above, with the exception of rent, accounting services and travel costs, are included in table above.



D Details of Remuneration (continued)

Details of the remuneration of KMP of the Group for the year ended 12 months ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

		term efits	Post- employment benefits	Share based payments		
31 December 2022	Salary and fees	Bonuses	Superannuati on	Other	Total	Performance related
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	%
Non-Executive Directors						
Ms Anna Neuling	60,000	-	-	21,733	81,733	27%
Mr David Chapman	83,750	-	-	21,733	105,483	21%
Mr Keith Liddell	75,185	-	-	21,733	96,918	22%
Former Non-Executive Dire	ector	-				
Executive KMP						
Mr Stephen Quantrill	200,004	50,000	-	26,591	276,595	28%
Mr Gabriel Oliva	279,620	101,907	-	69,584	451,111	38%
Ms Abby Macnish Niven	195,000	30,000		23,195	248,195	21%
Total	893,559	181,907	-	184,569	1,260,035	29%

During the 12-month period ended 31 December 2022, the Group made payments to the following companies:

- \$60,000 to Erasmus Consulting Pty Ltd, an entity related to Chairperson Anna Neuling.
- \$83,750 to Parati Pty Ltd, an entity related to Director David Chapman.
- The USD equivalent of AUD\$75,185 to Keshel Consulting Limited, an entity related to Director Keith Liddell.
- \$264,663 to McRae Investments, an entity related to Director Stephen Quantrill. The payments for directors' fees (\$200,004) and management fees included the rental of office space and shared facilities and travel expenses (\$64,659).
- \$225,000 to CAMS Advisory Pty Ltd, an entity related to CFO/Company Secretary Abby Macnish for Chief Financial Officer and company secretary services.

Mr Keith Liddell is paid in USD. Mr Gabriel da Cunha is paid in BRL. Their salary and fees have been translated using average rates.

All of the related party payments noted above, with the exception of rent and travel costs, are included in the table above.



D Details of Remuneration (continued)

Table 2 – Shareholdings of KMP (direct and indirect holdings) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2023:

31 December 2023	Balance 1/01/2023	Conversion/Additions	Balance 31/12/2023
Non-Executive Directors			
Ms Anna Neuling (i)	4,250,000	750,000	5,000,000
Mr David Chapman (ii)	2,650,000	750,000	3,400,000
Mr Keith Liddell (iii)	19,729,936	750,000	20,479,936
Executive KMP			
Mr Stephen Quantrill (iv)	2,250,000	1,750,000	4,000,000
Mr Gabriel Oliva (v)	-	4,500,000	4,500,000
Ms Abby Macnish Niven (vi)	2,550,000	375,000	2,925,000
TOTAL	31,429,936	8,875,000	40,304,936

- (i) Anna Neuling converted 750,000 performance rights into 750,000 shares.
- (ii) David Chapman converted 750,000 performance rights into 750,000 shares.
- (iii) Keith Liddell converted 750,000 performance rights into 750,000 shares.
- (iv) Stephen Quantrill converted 750,000 performance rights into 750,000 shares and purchased 1,00,000 shares.
- (v) Gabriel Oliva converted 4,500,000 performance rights into 4,500,000 shares.
- (vi) Abby Macnish Niven converted 375,000 performance rights into 375,000 shares.

Table 3 – Shareholdings of KMP (direct and indirect holdings) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2022:

31 December 2022	Balance 1/01/2022	Conversion/Additions	Balance 31/12/2022
Non-Executive Directors			
Ms Anna Neuling (i)	3,500,000	750,000	4,250,000
Mr David Chapman (ii)	1,900,000	750,000	2,650,000
Mr Keith Liddell (iii)	18,979,936	750,000	19,729,936
Executive KMP			
Mr Stephen Quantrill (v)	1,500,000	750,000	2,250,000
Mr Gabriel Oliva	-	-	-
Ms Abby Macnish Niven (vi)	2,175,000	375,000	2,550,000
TOTAL	28,054,936	3,375,000	31,429,936

- (i) Anna Neuling converted 750,000 performance rights into 750,000 shares.
- (ii) David Chapman converted 750,000 performance rights into 750,000 shares.
- (iii) Keith Liddell converted 750,000 performance rights into 750,000 shares.
- (iv) Stephen Quantrill converted 750,000 performance rights into 750,000 shares.
- (v) Abby Macnish Niven converted 375,000 performance rights into 375,000 shares.



Table 4 – Performance Rights holdings of KMP (direct and indirect holdings) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2023:

31 December 2023	ber 2023 Balance Gi 1/01/2023 Ren		Exercise of Performance Rights	Balance 31/12/2023
Non-Executive Directors				
Ms Anna Neuling	2,250,000	750,000	(750,000)	2,250,000
Mr David Chapman	2,250,000	750,000	(750,000)	2,250,000
Mr Keith Liddell	2,250,000	750,000	(750,000)	2,250,000
Executive KMP				
Mr Stephen Quantrill	3,750,000	1,500,000	(750,000)	4,500,000
Mr Gabriel Oliva	4,500,000	-	(4,500,000)	-
Ms Abby Macnish Niven	375,000	-	(375,000)	-
TOTAL	15,375,000	3,750,000	(7,875,000)	11,250,000

Table 5 – Performance Rights holdings of KMP (direct and indirect holdings) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2022:

31 December 2022	Balance 1/01/2022	Granted as Remuneration	Exercise of Performance Rights	Balance 31/12/2022
Non-Executive Directors				
Ms Anna Neuling	1,500,000	1,500,000	(750,000)	2,250,000
Mr David Chapman	1,500,000	1,500,000	(750,000)	2,250,000
Mr Keith Liddell	1,500,000	1,500,000	(750,000)	2,250,000
Executive KMP				
Mr Stephen Quantrill	1,500,000	3,000,000	(750,000)	3,750,000
Mr Gabriel Oliva	4,500,000	-	-	4,500,000
Ms Abby Macnish Niven	750,000	-	(375,000)	375,000
TOTAL	11,250,000	7,500,000	(3,375,000)	15,375,000

E Contractual Arrangements

Key terms of employment contracts for executive KMP's

Stephen Quantrill – Executive Director

- Annual consulting fee of \$200,000 (exclusive of GST);
- Effective date: 21 May 2021;
- Subject to ongoing service, the Company may pay a performance-based bonus over and above the fee;
- Notice period: 3 months.

Gabriel Oliva - Chief Executive Officer

- Base Salary 80,000 BRL per month;
- Effective date: 12 June 2020;
- Subject to ongoing service, the Company may pay a performance-based bonus over and above the fee:
- Notice period: 90 days.



Abby Macnish Niven - Company Secretary/Chief Financial Officer

- Annual consulting fee of \$195,000 (exclusive of GST);
- Effective date: 1 January 2022;
- Subject to ongoing service, the Company may pay a performance-based bonus over and above the fee:
- Notice period: 1 month.

F Share-based Compensation

The Company rewards Directors for their performance and aligns their remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth by issuing performance rights. Share-based compensation is at the discretion of the Board and no individual has a contractual right to receive any guaranteed benefits.

Shares

There were no shares provided to KMP during the current financial year.

Performance Rights

For the twelve-month period ended 31 December 2023, 7,875,000 performance rights were exercised by directors and other key management personnel.

The Company issued 3,750,000 performance rights (with an expiry date of 31 May 2025) to directors.

At the signing of this report the Company has 11,250,000 (31 December 2022: 15,375,000) performance rights outstanding to directors and KMP.

The terms and conditions of each tranche of performance rights affecting remuneration in the current or future reporting period are as follows:



Name	Grant Date	Number Granted	Expiry Date	Value of each Right (cents)	Vested
Ms Anna Neuling					
TIPR24 Tranche 1 ⁽ⁱ⁾	22/12/2022	750,000	22/12/2024	2.4	Yes
TIPR24 Tranche 2 ⁽ⁱⁱ⁾	22/12/2022	750,000	22/12/2024	2.4	Yes
TIPR25 Tranche 1(iii)	31/05/2023	375,000	31/05/2025	2.2	-
TIPR25 Tranche 2 ^(iv)	31/05/2023	375,000	31/05/2025	2.2	-
Mr David Chapman					
TIPR24 Tranche 1 ⁽ⁱ⁾	22/12/2022	750,000	22/12/2024	2.4	Yes
TIPR24 Tranche 2 ⁽ⁱⁱ⁾	22/12/2022	750,000	22/12/2024	2.4	Yes
TIPR25 Tranche 1 ⁽ⁱⁱⁱ⁾	31/05/2023	375,000	31/05/2025	2.2	-
TIPR25 Tranche 2 ^(iv)	31/05/2023	375,000	31/05/2025	2.2	-
Mr Stephen Quantrill					
TIPR24 Tranche 1 ⁽ⁱ⁾	22/12/2022	1,500,000	22/12/2024	2.4	Yes
TIPR24 Tranche 2 ⁽ⁱⁱ⁾	22/12/2022	1,500,000	22/12/2024	2.4	Yes
TIPR25 Tranche 1 ⁽ⁱⁱⁱ⁾	31/05/2023	750,000	31/05/2025	2.2	-
TIPR25 Tranche 2 ^(iv)	31/05/2023	750,000	31/05/2025	2.2	-
Mr Keith Liddell					
TIPR24 Tranche 1 ⁽ⁱ⁾	22/12/2022	750,000	22/12/2024	2.4	Yes
TIPR24 Tranche 2 ⁽ⁱⁱⁱ⁾	22/12/2022	750,000	22/12/2024	2.4	Yes
TIPR25 Tranche 1 ⁽ⁱⁱⁱ⁾	31/05/2023	350,000	31/05/2025	2.2	-
TIPR25 Tranche 2 ^(iv)	31/05/2023	350,000	31/05/2025	2.2	-

- (i) TIPR24 Tranche 1 vesting is subject to the Group achieving a net positive operational cashflow for the 12-month period ended 30 June 2023 greater than the financial year ended 30 June 2022, as evidenced by the reviewed financial report for 30 June 2023**.
- (ii) TIPR24 Tranche 2 vesting is subject to the achievement by the Group of a minimum production quota of 600,000 tonnes with Fe grade of 62% or higher and a minimum sales quota of 480,000 tonnes of Fe grade of 62% or higher from the Tombador Iron Project in Brazil.
- (iii) TIPR25 Tranche 1 vesting is subject to the Group achieving a net positive operational cashflow for the 6 months from 1 July 2023 and ending on 31 December 2023 than the financial half year ended 31 December 2022, as evidenced by the audited financial report for 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2023. The Group has deemed it not probable that these performance shares will vest.
- (iv) TIPR25 Tranche 2 vesting is subject to the achievement by the Group of a minimum production quota of 300,000 tonnes with Fe grade of 62% or higher and a minimum sales quota of 240,000 tonnes of Fe grade of 62% or higher from the Tombador Iron Project in Brazil for 6 months from 1 July 2023 and ending on 31 December 2023. The Group has deemed it not probable that these performance shares will vest.



^{**} In light of the update to the end of financial year to December year end, this vesting condition has been modified to reflect this timing change.

The Performance Rights were issued for nil consideration and no consideration will be payable upon the vesting of the Performance Rights. Rights granted under the Performance Rights Plan carry no dividend or voting rights. Details of Performance Rights provided as part of remuneration to Key Management Personnel are shown above.

The assessed fair value at grant date of Performance Rights granted to the individuals is allocated equally over the period from grant date to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above.

Further information on the performance rights is set out in Note 21 to the financial statements.

G Equity Instruments Issued on Exercise of Remuneration Options, Performance Rights and Performance Shares

During the 12-month period ended 31 December 2023, 7,875,000 performance rights were exercised by directors and other key management personnel (12-month period ended 31 December 2022: 3,375,000 performance rights were exercised by directors).

At the signing of this report the Company has 11,250,000 (12-month period ended 31 December 2022: 15,375,000) performance rights outstanding to directors and KMP.

No remuneration options were exercised during the financial year.

H Voting and Comments made at the Company's 2023 Annual General Meeting ('AGM')

At the 2023 AGM, 99.70% of the votes received supported the adoption of the Remuneration Report for the 6-months ended 31 December 2022. The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration practices.

I Loans with KMP

There were no loans made to any KMP during the 12-month period ended 31 December 2023 (12-month period ended 31 December 2022: nil).

J Other Transactions with KMP

During the 12-month period ended 31 December 2023, the Group made fee payments of \$72,036 (12-month period ended 31 December 2022: \$64,659) to McRae Investments, an entity related to Director Stephen Quantrill and CAMS Advisory Pty Ltd, an entity related to CFO/Company Secretary Abby Macnish. The payments to McRae Investments were for rental of office space and shared facilities and travel expenses (\$53,573) and the payments CAMS Advisory Pty Ltd were for accounting services and travel expenses (\$18,462).

All transactions were on normal terms and conditions.

End of Remuneration Report.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors.

400

Ms Anna Neuling
Non-Executive Chair
Perth, Western Australia
20 June 2024





AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

As lead auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial report of Tombador Iron Limited for the year ended 31 December 2023, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

- a) the auditor independence requirements of the *Corporations Act 2001* in relation to the audit; and
- b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Perth, Western Australia 20 June 2024 D I Buckley Partner

hlb.com.au

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) ABN 22 193 232 714

Level 4, 130 Stirling Street, Perth WA 6000 / PO Box 8124 Perth BC WA 6849 **T:** +61 (0)8 9227 7500 **E:** mailbox@hlbwa.com.au Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) is a member of HLB International, the global advisory and accounting network.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

	Not e	12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$	12 months ended 31 December 2022 \$
CONTINUING OPERATIONS			
Royalty revenue		166,638	-
Other income		178,020	138,143
Administration and other expenses	2	(2,752,188)	(3,141,943)
Operating profit before finance cost		(2,407,530)	(3,003,800)
Loss before income tax		(2,407,530)	(3,003,800)
Tax expense	3	<u> </u>	
Loss after tax for the year from continuing operations		(2,407,530)	(3,003,800)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS			
(Loss)/Profit from discontinued operations aft tax	ter	(18,040,437)	13,904,102
Total (loss)/profit after income tax		(20,447,967)	10,900,302
Other comprehensive income Items that may be reclassified subsequently to	nrofit or lo	cc,	
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations	ρισμισι ισ.	(2,943,970)	2,425,358
Other comprehensive income for the year, ne	t of tax	(2,943,970)	2,425,358
Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for year		(23,391,937)	13,325,660
Profit/(loss) per share from continuing operat the owners of Tombador Iron Limited	ions attribut	table to	
Basic earnings per share (cents)	11	(0.11)	(0.14)
Diluted earnings per share (cents) (Loss)/profit per share attributable to the own Tombador Iron Limited	11 ners of	(0.11)	(0.14)
Basic earnings per share (cents)	11	(0.95)	0.65
Diluted earnings per share (cents)	11	(0.94)	0.64

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2023

	Note	31 December 2023 \$	31 December 2022 \$
Current Assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	4 a	8,616,606	14,182,028
Trade and other receivables	4b	5,674,491	4,082,911
Inventory	5	-	13,913,339
Other assets	6	58,917	2,088,338
Total Current Assets		14,350,014	34,266,616
Non-Current Assets			
Property, plant, and equipment	7	13,575	9,195,160
Right-of-use assets	4d		8,572,600
Total Non-Current Assets		13,575	17,767,760
Total Assets		14,363,589	52,034,376
Current Liabilities			
Trade and other payables	4c	1,184,973	3,183,147
Lease liability	4d	-	2,972,016
Provisions	8		465,978
Total Current Liabilities		1,184,973	6,621,141
Non-Current Liabilities			
Lease liability	4d	-	6,357,488
Provisions	8		2,783,020
Total Non-Current Liabilities			9,140,508
Total Liabilities		1,184,973	15,761,649
Net Assets		13,178,616	36,272,727
Equity			
Share Capital	9	36,471,957	36,471,957
Reserves	10	1,193,873	3,840,017
Accumulated losses		(24,487,214)	(4,039,247)
Total Equity		13,178,616	36,272,727

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



For personal use only

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES OF EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023

	Share Capital	Accumulated Losses	Foreign Currency Translation Reserve	Share-based Payment Reserve	Total Equity
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Balance at 1 January 2022	36,471,957	(8,955,998)	290,627	843,803	28,650,389
Profit for the period	-	10,900,302	-	-	10,900,302
Other comprehensive income	-	-	2,425,358	-	2,425,358
Total comprehensive income for the period	-	10,900,302	2,425,358	-	13,325,660
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:					
Share-based payments	-	-	-	280,229	280,229
Dividends paid	-	(5,983,551)	-	-	(5,983,551)
Balance at 31 December 2022	36,471,957	(4,039,247)	2,715,985	1,124,032	36,272,727
Loss for the period	-	(20,447,967)	-	-	(20,447,967)
Other comprehensive loss	-	-	(2,943,970)	-	(2,943,970)
Total comprehensive income for the period	-	(20,447,967)	(2,943,970)	-	(23,391,937)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:					
Share-based payments	-	-	-	297,826	297,826
Balance at 31 December 2023	36,471,957	(24,487,214)	(227,985)	1,421,858	13,178,616

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

	Note	12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$	12 months ended 31 December 2022 \$
Cash Flows from Operating Activities			
Receipts from customers and government grants		68,429,345	50,074,692
Payments to suppliers and employees		(54,694,658)	(41,069,583)
Receipts from other income		157,420	146,651
Interest expense		(890,454)	(1,449,055)
Income tax paid		(2,154,356)	(3,203,865)
Royalty payments		(3,511,466)	(1,215,518)
Net cash inflow from operating activities	12	7,335,831	3,283,322
Cash Flows from Investing Activities			
Receipts from customers - commissioning revenue		-	890,431
Payments to suppliers and employees – commissioning			
costs		-	(296,727
Payment for plant and equipment		(10,553,275)	(7,551,852
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities	_	(10,553,275)	(6,958,148)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities			
Dividends paid		-	(5,983,551)
Repayment of lease liabilities		(2,759,284)	(2,809,541)
Net cash (outflow) from financing activities	_	(2,759,284)	(8,793,092)
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		(5,976,728)	(12,467,918)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period		14,182,028	25,233,750
Exchange rate adjustment		411,306	1,416,196
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	_	8,616,606	14,182,028

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Contents of the notes to the financial statements

How numbers are calculated:

- 1. Segment information
- 2. Administration and other expenses
- 3. Taxation
- 4. Financial assets and financial liabilities
- Inventory
- 6. Other assets
- 7. Plant and equipment
- 8. Provisions
- 9. Share capital
- 10. Reserves
- 11. Earnings per share
- 12. Cash flow information

How we manage risk

- 13. Critical estimates and judgements
- 14. Financial risk management
- 15. Capital management

Group structure

- 16. Discontinued operations
- 17. Interests in subsidiaries

Unrecognised items

- 18. Commitments and contingencies
- 19. Subsequent events

Further details

- 20. Related party transactions
- 21. Share-based payments
- 22. Remuneration of auditors
- 23. Parent entity financial information
- 24. Summary of significant accounting policies



How our numbers are calculated:

This section provides additional information about those individual line items in the financial statements that the directors consider most relevant in the context of the operation of the Group, including:

- Accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. These cover situations where the accounting standards either allow a choice or do not deal with the particular type of transaction.
- Analysis, including segment information.
- Information about estimates and judgements made in relation to particular items.
- 1. Segment information
- 2. Administration and other expenses
- 3. Taxation
- 4. Financial assets and financial liabilities
- Inventory
- 6. Other assets
- 7. Plant and equipment
- 8. Provisions
- 9. Share capital
- 10. Reserves
- 11. Earnings per share
- 12. Cash flow information



1. Segment information

The Group is organised into three operating segments:

- Corporate segment in Australia (Tombador Iron Limited)
- Corporate segment in Singapore (Tombador Iron Singapore Pte Limited)
- Tombador Iron Ore Project in Brazil (Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda) which was sold in December 2023 and now reported in discontinued.

Operating segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Board of Directors of Tombador Iron Limited. The following table presents the revenue, results and certain asset and liability information regarding the segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group's entire revenue stream is generated from its iron ore mine located in Brazil. The Group has four customers who generated in excess of 10% of the Group's revenue. These customers generated 99% of the Group's revenue for the year.



1. Segment information

	Australia	Singapore	Brazil	Discontinued	Consolidated
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Segment performance 12 months ended 31 De	ecember 2023				
Revenue	-	-	-	63,061,171	63,061,171
Other income	178,020	166,638	-	300,068	644,726
Profit/(Loss) before tax	(2,188,178)	(219,352)	-	(16,700,318)	(19,107,848)
Profit/(Loss) after tax	(2,188,178)	(219,352)	-	(18,040,437)	(20,447,967)
Depreciation	(2,737)	(10,304)	-	(4,427,147)	(4,440,188)
Finance cost	-	-	-	(1,897,546)	(1,897,546)
Segment performance 12 months ended 31 De	ecember 2022				
Revenue	-	-	-	51,950,554	51,950,554
Other income	138,143	-	-	117,803	255,946
Profit/(Loss) before tax	(2,573,908)	(429,892)	-	14,982,033	11,978,233
Profit/(Loss) after tax	(2,573,908)	(429,892)	-	13,904,102	10,900,302
Depreciation	(7,818)	(19,941)	-	(3,678,188)	(3,705,947)
Finance cost	-	-		(1,062,194)	(1,062,194)

	Australia	Singapore	Brazil	Elimination	Consolidated
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
As at 31 December 2023					
Segment Assets	13,990,781	5,305,556	-	(4,932,748)	14,363,589
Segment Liabilities	812,165	372,808	-	-	1,184,973
Acquisition of non-current assets					
As at 31 December 2022					
Segment Assets	27,524,230	251,749	37,791,335	(13,532,938)	52,034,376
Segment Liabilities	828,481	7,791	14,925,377	-	15,761,649
Acquisition of non-current assets	-	-	4,808,041	-	4,808,041



2. Administration and other expenses

	Consolidated Entity			
	12months ended 31 December 2023 \$	12 months ended 31 December 2022 \$		
From continuing operations				
Share-based payments	297,826	280,229		
Administrative expenses	1,264,394	1,165,657		
Marketing expenses	45,396	13,554		
Occupancy costs	25,523	29,953		
Other Expenses	1,878	8,393		
Employee benefits expense	1,104,130	1,616,398		
Depreciation and amortisation costs	13,041	27,759		
Administration and other expenses from continuing				
operations	2,752,188	3,141,943		

Accounting policy

Depreciation and amortisation
Refer to note 7 for details on depreciation.



3. Taxation

	Consolidated Entity		
	12 months ended 31 December	12 months ended 31 December	
	2023 \$	2022 \$	
Tax Expense	,	Ÿ	
Current tax expense	1,340,119	1,077,931	
Income tax expense is attributable to:			
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations	-	-	
(Loss)/profit from discontinuing operations	1,340,119	1,077,931	
	1,340,119	1,077,931	
The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting loss from opera			
reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial statements as follows		(0.000.000)	
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations before income tax expense	(2,407,530)	(3,003,800)	
(Loss)/profit from discontinuing operations before income tax expense	(16,700,318)	14,982,033	
Accounting profit/(loss) before income tax	(19,107,848)	11,978,233	
Income tax benefit calculated at 30% (31 December 2022:28%)	(5,732,354)	3,353,905	
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating			
taxable income			
Non-deductible expenses	7,819,383	210,166	
Non-assessable income	-	74,131	
Current year tax losses not recognised	767,155	506,600	
Differences in tax rates ⁽ⁱ⁾	(1,299,063)	(1,527,133)	
Effect of tax in foreign jurisdictions	-	612,683	
Movement in unrecognised temporary differences	(10,300)	(1,034,738)	
Deductible equity raising costs	(204,702)	(860,151)	
Temporary differences not recognised	-	(257,532)	
Income tax expense attributable to entity	1,340,119	1,077,931	

(i) The Group was granted the Sudene Tax Incentive in relation to its Brazil operations for a period of ten years. The Superintendency for the Development of the Northeast, or "Sudene", is a Brazilian governmental agency created in 1959, to stimulate economic growth in the Northeastern region of Brazil. The incentive was created in 2002. The Sudene Benefit grants a 75% reduction on the IRPJ Income Tax payable by the Group, which results in the income tax payable on Brazil operations to move to approximately 15.25% from the standard rate of approximately 34%.



Deferred tax balances

For the year to 31 December 2023, net deferred tax assets of \$3,203,026 (31 December 2022: \$3,017,325) have not been recognised in terms of AASB112 Income Taxes. The Parent Company does not currently have foreseeable future taxable profits against which the deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses comprising this net deferred tax amount may be utilised.

	Consolidate	ed Entity
	12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$	12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$
	30.00%	30.00%
Described deferred toy assets and linkilities		
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities Deferred tax assets		
Employee provisions	4,073	3,473
ROU assets	-,075	2,505,635
	4,073	2,509,108
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities	(4,073)	(2,509,108)
Net deferred tax assets	(4,073)	(2,309,108)
Net deferred tax assets		
Deferred tax liabilities		
Plant & equipment	(4,073)	(3,473)
ROU liability	-	(2,448,923)
Other DTLs		(56,712)
Gross deferred tax liabilities	(4,073)	(2,509,108)
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities	4,073	2,509,108
Net deferred tax liabilities		-
Unused tax losses and temporary differences for which no chas been recognised	deferred tax asset	
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following using corporate tax rates of:	30.00%	30.00%
Deductible temporary differences	270,366	485,370
Tax revenue losses	2,896,029	2,495,324
Tax capital losses	36,631	36,631
Total unrecognised deferred tax assets	3,203,026	3,017,325

The corporate tax rates on both recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities have been calculated with respect to the tax rate that is expected to apply in the year the deferred tax asset is realised or the liability is settled.



Accounting policy

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; or are associated with investments and loans in controlled entities and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability settled, based on tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current and deferred taxes attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity and not in the statement of profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off tax assets against tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxation authority.

Income tax

The income tax expense/(benefit) for the year comprises current income tax expense/(income) and deferred tax expense/(income). Current income tax expense charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date. Current tax liabilities/(assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.



4. Financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

		Consolidated Entity			
		31 December 2023 \$	31 December 2022 \$		
Financial assets					
Financial assets at amortised cost					
Cash and cash equivalents	4a	8,616,606	14,182,028		
Trade and other receivables	7b	5,674,491	4,082,911		
Financial liabilities					
Liabilities at amortised cost					
Trade and other payables	4c	1,184,973	3,183,147		
Lease liabilities	4d	-	9,329,504		

a) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

	Consolidated Entity		
	31 December 2023 \$	31 December 2022 \$	
Cash at bank and on hand	8,616,606	14,182,028	

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Accounting policy

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity period of three months or less.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts, if any.

b) Trade and other receivables

	Consolidat	Consolidated Entity			
	31 December 2023 \$	31 December 2022 \$			
Current					
Trade debtors-at amortised cost	-	2,130,381			
Other receivable ¹	5,507,853	-			
Accrued revenue	166,638	1,952,530			
	5,674,491	4,082,911			

1 Includes \$5,130,467 cash receivable from disposal of subsidiary refer to note 16(ii).



The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value. All amounts are considered short term, and none are past due.

The amounts represent assets for goods and services provided by the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other receivables are presented as current assets unless payment is not due within 12 months.

Accounting policy

Initial recognition and measurement and subsequent measurement

Financial assets with the exception of cash and cash equivalents are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost. For purpose of subsequent measurement, the Group's financial assets with the exception of cash and cash equivalents comprise fully of financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments).

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

- The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Interest received is recognised as part of finance income in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include trade receivables (not subject to provisional pricing) and other receivables.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. ECLs are recognised in two stages:

- For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (12-month ECL).
- For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables (not subject to provisional pricing) and other receivables due in less than 12 months, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead, recognises a loss allowance based on the financial asset's lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix for trade receivables that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. For any other financial assets carried at amortised cost (which are due in more than 12 months), the ECL is based on the 12-month ECL when there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since origination. The 12-month ECL is the proportion of lifetime ECLs that results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.



When there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment including forward-looking information. The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows and usually occurs when past due for more than one year and not subject to enforcement activity. No ECL was required based on a review of these factors.

c) Trade and other payables

	Consolida	Consolidated Entity		
	31 December 2023 \$	31 December 2022 \$		
Trade creditors	92,449	1,692,532		
Customer advances	-	148,853		
Accruals and other payables	1,092,524	1,341,762		
	1,184,973	3,183,147		

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their fair value. All amounts are considered short term, and none are past due.

The amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months.

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value on initial recognition. After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.



d) Leases

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

Right-of-use asset	Consolidated 31 December 2023 \$
Cost	
At 1 January 2023	13,111,035
Lease reassessment	1,508,143
Disposal	(15,722,814)
Exchange difference	1,103,636
At 31 December 2023	
Accumulated Depreciation	
At 1 January 2023	4,538,435
Charge for the year	519,542
Lease reassessment	3,008,933
Disposal	(8,465,965)
Exchange difference	399,055
At 31 December 2023	
Carrying amount	
At 1 January 2023	8,572,600
At 31 December 2023	
	-

Lease Liabilities	Consolidated 31 December 2023 \$
At 1 January 2023	9,329,504
Lease reassessment	1,742,713
Add: Interest	879,398
Less: Payments	(3,866,083)
Disposal	(8,864,852)
Exchange difference	779,320
Closing Balance at 31 December 2023	
Represented by:	
31 December 2023	
Current lease liabilities	-
Non-current lease liabilities	-
31 December 2022	
Current lease liabilities	2,972,016
Non-current lease liabilities	6,357,488



The Group's leasing activities and how these are accounted for:

The Group as lessee:

The Group leases mining equipment, housing for the key staff on site as well as various warehouse space.

The Group assesses on an ongoing basis whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for the short-term leases (defined as leases with lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

i. Lease liabilities

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

- Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
- Variable lease payments that depend on an index rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
- The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
- The exercise price of purchase options, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

- The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting
 in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability
 is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.
- The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment
 under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
 discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease
 payments change is due to a change in floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount
 rate is used).
- A lease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is measured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of modification.



The Group identified changes to its leases and made the following modifications:

Rental property leases were previously assumed to be renewed annually at review date for a
five year period. Due to the changing needs of the project, this has been revised to only assume
renewal of the leases at the next review date for a period of 12 months. This will continue to be
reviewed annually.

Commencing October 2022, all rental property leases are on 12 month short term contracts. Under the Group's accounting policy, all leased underlying assets valued at or below USD\$10,000 qualify for the low-value lease exemption (AASB16) and leases under 12 months are outside the scope AASB16, therefore the Group does not now recognize a housing and storage lease liability.

ii. Right of use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under AASB 137. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset.

The Group applied AASB 136 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in 'Plant and Equipment' policy.

5. Inventory

	Consolida	Consolidated Entity		
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022		
	\$	\$		
Inventory – Lump at cost	-	2,381,523		
Inventory – Fines at cost	-	11,531,816		
	-	13,913,339		

Accounting policy

Inventory represents ore stock and is physically measured or estimated and valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the weighted average method and comprises direct purchase costs and an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation, incurred in converting ore. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and costs of selling the final product, including royalties.



6. Other assets

	Consolid	Consolidated Entity		
	31 December 2023 \$	31 December 2022 \$		
Prepayments	58,917	151,400		
Deferred Expenditure	-	24,062		
Taxes recoverable	-	1,912,876		
	58,917	2,088,338		

7. Plant and equipment

	Consolidat	Consolidated Entity			
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022			
	\$	\$			
Furniture	-	22,717			
Software and IT equipment	13,575	127,822			
Lab equipment	-	245,513			
Assets under Construction	-	1,364			
Plant and equipment	-	2,197,596			
Mine property	-	206,017			
Stripping Asset		6,394,131			
	13,575	9,195,160			



For person

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Movement in carrying amounts of plant and equipment

>		Furniture S	Software and IT equipment \$	Lab equipment \$	Assets under construction	Plant and equipment	Mine Property \$	Stripping Asset \$	Consolidated Entity Total \$
	Balance at 1 January 2023	22,717	127,822	245,513	1,364	2,197,596	206,017	6,394,131	9,195,160
	Additions	2,773	24,689	2,477	7,127	53,110		10,203,587	10,293,763
9	Disposals	(26,075)	(120,733)	(212,784)	(7,160)	(2,079,590)	(197,445)	(16,177,152)	(18,820,939)
	Reallocation	1,092	380	-	(1,472)	-	-	-	-
7	Depreciation	(2,426)	(28,342)	(55,615)	-	(354,645)	(17,029)	(1,003,198)	(1,461,255)
9	Exchange differences	1,919	9759	20,409	141	183,529	8,457	582,632	806,846
\exists	Balance at 31 December 2023	-	13,575	-	-	-	-	-	13,575
α	Cost	-	19,393	_	_	-	_	-	19,393
4 4	Accumulated Depreciation	-	(5,818)	-	-	-	-	-	(5 <i>,</i> 818)
	Balance at 31 December 2023	-	13,575	-	-	-	-	-	13,575
7	_								



Accounting policy

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the items. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the reporting period in which they were incurred.

Once assets are available for use, depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate asset costs over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Software and IT equipment	5 years
Lab equipment	5 years
Plant and equipment	7 and 10 years
Mine property	Life of mine units of production
Stripping asset	Life of mine units of production

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance date. An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Impairment of non-current assets

The Group reviews the carrying value of the assets of each Cash Generating Unit (CGU) at each balance date for indicators of potential impairment or reversal thereof. Where such indicators exist, the Group utilises the approaches under applicable accounting pronouncements for assessment of any impairment expenses or reversals.

As at 31 December 2023, there were no indicators of impairment or impairment reversal present. No impairment expenses or impairment reversals thereof have been recognised during the period (31 December 2022: nil).

Accounting policy

Recoverable amount of assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset's value-in-use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less cost to sell and it does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.



In allocating an impairment loss, the carrying amount of an individual asset is not taken below its individual recoverable amount.

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that a previously recognised impairment loss may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only where there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.

If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

After such a reversal, the depreciation or amortisation charges are adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset's revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Development stripping

Overburden and other mine waste materials are often removed during the initial development of a mine in order to access the mineral deposit. This activity is referred to as development stripping.

The directly attributable costs (inclusive of an allocation of relevant operational overhead expenditure) are capitalised as development costs. In April 2022, the Group commenced the cut back of a new area of the mine pit, and has capitalised the development stripping associated with this work during the period.

Capitalised development and production stripping costs are classified as "Stripping Asset". Development stripping costs are considered in combination with other assets of an operation for the purpose of undertaking impairment assessments. Amortisation of capitalised development stripping costs is determined on a unit of production basis for each separate area of interest.

Removal of waste material normally continues throughout the life of a mine. This activity is referred to as production stripping and commenced in December 2021 upon the initial extraction of ore.



8. Provisions

	Consolidat	Consolidated Entity		
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022		
	\$	\$		
Current				
Employee benefits	<u></u> _	465,978		
Total current	<u>-</u> _	465,978		
Non-current				
Rehabilitation	<u></u> _	2,783,020		
Total non-current	-	2,783,020		

Movement in Provisions year to 31 December 2023

	Rehabilitation and restoration provision	Employee benefits	Total	
	\$	\$	\$	
Closing balance at 1 January 2023	2,783,020	465,978	3,248,998	
Finance cost	294,867	-	294,867	
Exchange difference	186,305	39,224	225,529	
Disposals	(3,264,192)	(419,475)	(3,683,667)	
Amounts recognised during the year		(85,727)	(85,727)	
Closing balance at 31 December 2023	-	-	-	

Accounting policy

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Employee benefits, salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employee's services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Rehabilitation

A provision for restoration and rehabilitation is recognised when there is a present obligation as a result of exploration and development activities undertaken, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The estimated future obligations include the costs of removing facilities, abandoning sites and restoring the affected areas.

The provision for future restoration costs is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle the restoration obligation at the reporting date, based on current legal and other requirements and technology. Future restoration costs are reviewed annually and any changes in the estimate are reflected in the present value of the restoration provision at each reporting date.



The initial estimate of the restoration and rehabilitation provision relating to exploration and development and production facilities is capitalised into the cost of the related asset and depreciated on the same basis as the related asset, unless the present obligation arises from the production of inventory in the period, in which case the amount is included in the cost of production for the period. Changes in the estimate of the provision for restoration and rehabilitation are treated in the same manner, except that the unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost rather than being capitalised into the cost of the related asset.

On an annual basis, the Group reviews the applicable discount rate used to calculate the net present value (NPV) of the rehabilitation provision at reporting date. The present value of the restoration and rehabilitation provision at reporting date has been discounted using the longer-term interest rate in Brazil of 10.00%.

9. Share capital

a) Issued share capital

	31 Decembe	r 2023	31 Decembe	er 2022
	Number	\$	Number	\$
Ordinary shares fully paid	2,158,482,373	36,471,957	2,136,982,373	36,471 ,957

b) Movement in ordinary share capital

Date	Details	Number of shares	\$
01/01/2022	Balance at the beginning of the year	2,129,357,373	36,471,957
08/06/2022	Shares issued on vesting of performance rights	3,000,000	-
12/07/2022	Performance shares exercised into escrowed shares	750,000	-
12/07/2022	Performance shares exercised into ordinary shares	2,375,000	-
17/08/2022	Performance shares exercised into escrowed shares	1,500,000	-
31/12/2022	Balance at the end of the year	2,136,982,373	36,471,957
31/05/2023	Performance shares exercised into ordinary shares	12,625,000	-
10/08/2023	Performance shares exercised into ordinary shares	7,625,000	-
27/09/2023	Performance shares exercised into ordinary shares	1,250,000	-
31/12/2023	Closing balance	2,158,482,373	36,471,957

Accounting policy

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are recorded in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Terms and conditions of ordinary shares

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholders' meetings. In the event of winding up of the Group, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidations.



10. Reserves

	Consolidated Entity		
	31 December 2023 \$	31 December 2022 \$	
Share-based payment reserve	1,421,858	1,124,032	
Foreign current translation reserve	(227,985)	2,715,985	
	1,193,873	3,840,017	

Movement reconciliation in share-based payment reserve	Number of options	Number of Performance Rights	\$
On issue at 31 December 2021	19,750,000	31,250,000	843,803
Shares issued on vesting of performance rights	-	(7,625,000)	-
Performance rights issued	-	7,500,000	-
Recognition of share-based payment expense for performance rights issued in previous years	-	-	280,229
On issue at 31 December 2022	19,750,000	31,125,000	1,124,032
Performance shares exercised into ordinary shares	-	(21,500,000)	-
Performance rights issued	-	3,750,000	-
Options expired	(15,000,000)	-	-
Recognition of share-based payment expense for performance rights	-	-	297,826
On issue 31 December 2023	4,750,000	13,375,000	1,421,858

Nature and purpose of reserves

a) Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise:

- the grant date fair value of options issued to consultants, employees and directors but not exercised
- the grant date fair value of shares issued to consultants, employees and directors.
- the grant date fair value of performance rights issued to consultants, employees and directors.

b) Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is disposed of.



11. Earnings per share (EPS)

a) Basic and diluted earnings per share

i. Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/loss attributable to equity holders of the Group excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

ii. Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after-tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with the dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Earnings per ordinary share is calculated on the Group's loss after tax of \$20,447,966 and the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 2,147,726,567.

	Consolidated Entity		
	12 months ended	12 months ended	
	31 December 2023	31 December 2022	
	Cents	Cents	
Basic (loss)/profit per share			
From continuing operations	(0.11)	(0.14)	
From discontinuing operations	(0.84)	0.65	
Total basic (loss)/profit per share	(0.95)	0.51	
Diluted (loss)/profit per share			
From continuing operations	(0.11)	(0.14)	
From discontinuing operations	(0.83)	0.64	
Total diluted (loss)/profit per share	(0.94)	0.50	

b) Reconciliations of (loss)/profit used in calculating (loss)/profit per share

	Consolidate	Consolidated Entity		
	12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$	12 months ended 31 December 2022 \$		
From continuing operations	(2,407,529)	(3,003,800)		
From discontinuing operations	(18,040,437)	13,904,102		
	(20,447,966)	10,900,302		



c) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

The weighted average number of shares in issue for the purpose of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share and basic and diluted adjusted earnings per share are as follows:

	12 months ended 31 December 2023	12 months ended 31 December 2022
Weighted average number of shares on issue		
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic profit per share	2,147,762,567	2,133,092,687
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating diluted profit per share	2,170,381,963	2,160,812,291

12. Cash flow information

	Consolidated Entity		
	12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$	12 months ended 31 December 2022 \$	
Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities with loss from ordinary activities after income tax:			
(Loss)/Profit after tax for the period	(20,447,966)	10,900,302	
Adjusted for non-cash items:			
Depreciation	4,440,187	3,705,947	
Share-based payment	297,826	280,229	
Finance cost on lease liability	-	266,878	
Non-cash interest accretion on rehabilitation provision	294,867	271,844	
Loss/(gain) on lease modifications	1,536,749	-	
Loss on sale of disposed subsidiary	17,882,589	-	
Changes in assets and liabilities:			
(Increase) in trade and other receivables	4,052,203	(961,170))	
(Increase) in other assets	(1,082,439)	(1,939,741)	
(Increase) in inventory	1,879,306	(9,253,357)	
(Decrease) /Increase in trade and other payables	(1,470,988)	70,440	
Increase in provisions	(46,503)	(58,050)	
Net cash inflows from operating activities	7,335,831	3,283,322	



Managing risk:

This section of the notes discusses the Group's exposure to various risks and shows how these could affect the Group's financial position and performance:

- 13. Critical estimates and judgements
- 14. Financial risk management
- 15. Capital management

13. Critical estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group's accounting policies. This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which are more likely to be sensitive to changes in estimates and assumptions. Detailed information about each of these estimates and judgements is included in other notes together with information about the basis of calculation for each affected line item in the financial statements. In addition, this note also explains where there have been actual adjustments this year as a result of an error and of changes to previous estimates.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates and judgements may differ from the related actual results and may have a significant effect on the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the financial year are discussed below.

i. Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The future recoverability of property, plant and equipment is dependent on a number of factors, including the level of mineral resources and ore reserves, future technological changes which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices and exchange rates. The Group regularly reviews the carrying values of its property, plant and equipment in the context of internal and external consensus forecasts for commodity prices and foreign exchange rates, with the application of appropriate discount rates for the assets concerned. To the extent that property, plant and equipment is determined not to be recoverable in the future, this will reduce profits and net assets in the period in which this determination is made.



ii. Determining the beginning of commercial production

Judgement is required to determine when capitalisation of development costs ceases and amortisation of mine assets commences upon the start of commercial production. This is based on the specific circumstances of the project, and considers when the specific asset is substantially complete and becomes 'available for use' as intended by management which includes consideration of completion of reasonable testing of the mine plant and equipment, throughput levels at or near expected levels, the ability to produce iron ore in saleable form and other factors such as cashflow and cash positive operations.

iii. Environmental rehabilitation obligations

The Group's mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment. The Group recognises management's best estimate for asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred. Actual costs incurred and actual timing thereof in future periods can differ materially from the estimates. Additionally, future changes to environmental laws and regulations, life of mine estimates and discount rates can affect the carrying amount of this provision.

Estimated long-term environmental provisions, comprising pollution control, rehabilitation and mine closure, are based on the Group's environmental policy taking into account current technological, environmental and regulatory requirements. Provisions for future rehabilitation costs have been determined, based on calculations which require the use of estimates (refer note 9).

Key assumptions used:

	31 December 2023	31 December 2022
Current cost estimate	-	\$2,654,312
Pre-tax risk-free interest rate (%)	-	10.0
Length of the project (yrs)	-	7
Length of rehabilitation process (yrs)	-	4

iv. Share-based payments

The Group makes equity settled share-based payments to parties, including directors, which are measured at fair value at the date of grant and expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest. The fair values are determined using the relevant option pricing models or the market price of the Group's shares on measurement date. Vesting assumptions are reviewed during each reporting period to ensure they reflect current expectations (refer Note 21).



14. Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed.

These include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange risk and assessments of market forecasts for interest rate and foreign exchange prices. Ageing analysis and monitoring of specific credit allowances are undertaken to manage credit risk. Liquidity risk is monitored through the development of future cash flow forecasts.

Risk management is carried out by Management and overseen by the Board of Directors with assistance from suitably qualified external advisors.

The main risks arising for the Group are foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

The carrying values of the Group's financial instruments are as follows:

		Consolidated Entity		
		31 December 2023	31 December 2022	
		\$	\$	
Financial assets				
Financial assets at amortised cost				
Cash and cash equivalents	4a	8,616,606	14,182,028	
Trade and other receivables	4b	5,674,491	4,082,911	
Financial liabilities				
Liabilities at amortised cost				
Trade and other payables	4c	1,184,973	3,183,147	
Lease liabilities	4d	-	9,329,504	



a) Market risk

i. Foreign exchange risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed in Australian dollars, was as follows:

	31 December 2023		31 December 2022	
	USD	BRL	USD	BRL
Cash and cash equivalents	7,072,274	-	8,455,086	180,387
Trade Receivables	-	-	-	4,082,911
Other Receivables	-	-	-	1,990,168
Trade Payables	(18,509)	-	(7,791)	(1,595,843)
Other Payables	(5,691)	-	-	(751,032)
Lease liabilities				(9,329,504)
	7,048,074	-	8,447,295	(5,422,913)

Sensitivity

As shown in the table above, the Group is primarily exposed to changes in USD/AUD and BRL/AUD exchange rates. The sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly from BRL-denominated expense in Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda and USD cash held in Tombador Iron Singapore Pte Ltd.

	Impact on post-tax profit (loss)		
	31 December 2023 31 December		
	\$	\$	
BRL/AUD exchange rate - increase 10%*	181,823	1,370,694	
BRL/AUD exchange rate - decrease 10%*	(222,228)	(1,675,292)	
USD/AUD exchange rate – increase 10%*	(22,956)	(36,154)	
USD/AUD Exchange rate decrease 10%*	28,058	44,188	
*Holding all other variables constant			



ii. Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument's value will fluctuate as a result of changes in the market interest rates on interest bearing financial instruments. The Group's exposure to this risk relates primarily to the Group's cash and any cash on deposit. The Group does not use derivatives to mitigate these exposures. The Group manages its exposure to interest rate risk by holding certain amounts of cash in fixed and floating interest rate facilities. At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments was:

		12 months ended 31 December 2023		nded 31 2022
	Weighted average	Balance	Weighted average interest	Balance
	interest rate	\$	rate	\$
Cash and cash equivalents	0.76%	8,616,606	1.14%	14,182,028

Sensitivity

Within the analysis, consideration is given to potential renewals of existing positions and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates. The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the reporting date. The 1% increase and 1% decrease in rates is based on reasonably expected possible changes over a financial year.

For the 12-month period ended 31 December 2023, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, profit and equity would have been affected as follows:

Judgements of reasonably possible movements:	Profit higher/(lower) 12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$	Profit higher/(lower) 12 months ended 31 December 2022 \$
+ 1.0% (100 basis points)	86,166	141,820
- 1.0% (100 basis points)	(86,166)	(141,820)



b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party might fail to fulfil its performance obligations under the terms of a financial instrument. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and receivables.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group is unaware of any information which would cause it to believe that these financial assets are not fully recoverable.

c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to its reputation.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves from funds raised in the market and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. The Group does not have any external borrowings.

The following are the undiscounted contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

	1 year or less	1-5 years	> 5 years	Total
	<u> </u>	Ş	Ş	\$
31 December 2023				
Trade and other payables	1,184,973	-	-	1,184,973
Lease Liabilities	-	-	-	-
31 December 2022				
Trade and other payables	3,183,147	-	-	3,183,147
Lease Liabilities	3,794,850	6,954,611	-	10,749,461

15. Capital management

The Group defines capital as the total equity attributable to common shareholders. Capital is managed by the Group's management and governed by the Board of Directors. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.



Group structure:

This section provides information that will help users understand how the Group structure affects the financial position and performance of the Group as a whole. In particular, there is information about changes to the structure that occurred during the year.

A list of subsidiaries is provided in note 20.

- 16. Discontinued Operation
- 17. Interest in subsidiaries

16. Discontinued Operation

i. Description

On 25 October 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with PJ INVESTIMENTOS E PARTICIPAÇÕES LTDA, where the Group agreed to sell 100% of their equity interest in its wholly owned subsidiary, Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda, subject to shareholders approval. Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda holds the mining concession, "Portaria nº 165/SGM/MME", which comprises the Tombador Iron Ore Project.

The shareholders' approval was obtained at the Extraordinary General Meeting on 27 December 2023 and the subsidiary was sold on 31 December 2023 and is reported in the current period as part of the discontinued operation. Financial information relating to the discontinued operation for the period to the date of disposal is set out below.

ii. Details of the sale of subsidiary

	\$
Consideration ¹	5,130,467
Less net assets disposed of	(27,863,001)
Realisation of Foreign currency transaction reserves upon disposal	4,849,945
Loss on sale	(17,882,589)

^{1.} Cash receivable of \$5,130,467

	\$
Net assets disposed of:	
Trade and other receivables	30,708
Inventory	12,034,033
Other Assets	2,949,624
Property, plant and equipment	18,817,788
Right of use asset	7,256,849
Trade and other payables	(677,483)
Lease liability	(8,864,851)
Provisions	(3,683,667)
Total net asset disposed off	27,863,001



16. Discontinued Operation (continued)

iii. Financial performance and cash flow information

The financial performance information presented are for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2022 to 31 January 2022 for Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda.

	2023	2022
	\$	\$
Revenue	63,061,171	51,950,554
Cost of goods sold	(56,409,003)	(32,810,538)
Other income	300,068	117,803
Administration and other expenses	(3,872,419)	(3,213,592)
Finance cost	(1,897,546)	(1,062,194)
Profit before income tax	1,182,271	14,982,033
Income tax expense	(1,340,119)	(1,077,931)
Loss on sale of subsidiary after income tax (point ii. above)	(17,882,589)	-
Loss/(Profit) from discontinued operation	(18,040,437)	13,904,102

The cash flow information presented are for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 for Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda.

	2023
	\$
Net cash inflow from operating activities	12,610,198
Net cash outflow from investing activities	(10,553,274)
Net cash outflow from financing activities	(3,638,682)
Net decrease in cash generated by the subsidiaries	(1,581,758)

iv. Material Terms of the Sale agreement

The Material terms of the sale of 100% of the Groups equity interest in its wholly owned subsidiary, Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda, are set out below:

- Consideration of 10,000,000 BRL in staged payments;
- a royalty of 4.25% on gross revenue from iron ore sales of direct ship ores from the Project;
 and
- a tax refund (PIS and COFINS) if the Federal Government of Brazil approves the refund requests,



v. Accounting policy

A discontinued operation is a component of the consolidated entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations are presented separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

17. Interest in subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy described below:

Name of entity		Country of incorporation	Equity holding ¹ 12 months ended 31 December 2023	Equity holding ¹ 12 months ended 31 December 2022
Legal Parent				
Tombador Iron Limited	Corporate	Australia		
Legal Subsidiaries				
Tombador Iron Singapore Pte Ltd	Corporate	Singapore	100%	100%
Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda	Mining	Brazil	0%	100%

¹ The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Tombador Iron Limited for the twelve-month period ended 31 December 2023 and the results of all subsidiaries for the period then ended. Tombador Iron Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interests, being that portion of the profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries attributable to equity interests held by persons outside the Group, are shown separately within the Equity section of the consolidated Statement of Financial Position and in the consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Statement of Other Comprehensive Income.

Intercompany transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.



Unrecognised items:

This section of the notes provides information about items that are not recognised in the financial statements as they do not (yet) satisfy the recognition criteria.

- 18. Commitments, contingent liabilities, and contingent assets
- 19. Subsequent events

18. Commitments and contingencies

There are no other commitments or contingent liabilities outstanding at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: \$nil).

19. Subsequent events

On the 29 May 2024, the Group received its 6th and final payment of the consideration of 10,000,000 BRL from the sale of their 100% equity interest in its wholly owned subsidiary, Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda. The only outstanding receivable relating to the sale as at 13 June 2024 is the tax refund which is subject to the Federal Government of Brazil approval.

Other than the matters noted above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the twelve-month period ended 31 December 2023 which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operating of the Group, the results of those operations, or state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.



Further details:

This section of the notes includes other information that must be disclosed to comply with the accounting standards and other pronouncements, but that is not immediately related to individual line items in the financial statements.

- 20. Related party transactions
- 21. Share based payments
- 22. Remuneration of auditors
- 23. Parent entity financial information
- 24. Summary of significant accounting policies

20. Related party transactions

a) Parent entity

The Group is controlled by Tombador Iron Limited, the legal parent.

b) Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 17.

c) Key management personnel compensation

	Consolida	Consolidated Entity		
	12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$	12 months ended 30 December 2022 \$		
Short-term employee benefits	946,205	893,559		
Bonuses	-	181,907		
Share-based payments	211,891	184,569		
	1,158,096	1,260,035		

d) Loans to/from related parties

No loans to/from related party at year end.

e) Other transactions with related parties

During the current financial year, the Group made payments to the following companies:

- \$60,000 to Erasmus Consulting Pty Ltd, an entity related to Chairperson Anna Neuling.
- \$50,000 to Parati Pty Ltd, an entity related to Director David Chapman.
- The USD equivalent of AUD\$67,561 to Keshel Consulting Limited, an entity related to Director Keith Liddell.
- \$253,577 to McRae Investments, an entity related to Director Stephen Quantrill. The payments were for directors' fees (\$200,004) and rental of office space and shared facilities and travel expenses (\$53,573).
- \$213,462 to CAMS Advisory Pty Ltd, an entity related to CFO/Company Secretary Abby Macnish for Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary services (\$195,000) and accounting services and travel expenses (\$18,462).



21. Share based payments

Equity settled transactions

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions).

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using valuation techniques appropriate to the instrument being valued, such as Black-Scholes models or Monte Carlo simulations or in some instances the market price of the Group's shares on measurement date.

In determining the fair value of the equity instruments granted, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of Tombador Iron Limited.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects:

- the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and
- the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date.
- The Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.



The share-based payment expense for the 12- month period ended 31 December 2023 recognised in profit or loss of \$297,826 (31 December 2022: \$280,229) results from several transactions summarised below:

Transactions	Consolidated Entity		
	12 months ended	12 months ended	
	31 December 2023	December 2022	
	\$	\$	
Directors share based payment expense	193,139	91,791	
Employees and consultants share based payment expense	104,687	188,438	
Total expense for period	297,826	280,229	
Represented by:			
Share-based payment expense	297,826	280,229	
	297,826	280,229	

The Group has the following share-based payment arrangements on issue during the twelve-month period ended 31 December 2023.

Class	Tranche	Grant Date	Number Granted	Expiry Date	Exercisable	Value of each Right (cents)	Vested
TI1AD		1/09/2020	15,000,000	25/09/2023	\$0.035	1.07	Yes
TI1AE/F	Tranche 1 ⁽ⁱ⁾	31/08/2020	4,000,000	31/08/2025	\$Nil	2.50	Yes
TI1AE/F	Tranche 2 ⁽ⁱⁱ⁾	31/08/2020	11,625,000	31/08/2025	\$Nil	2.50	Yes
TI1AE/F	Tranche 3 ⁽ⁱⁱⁱ⁾	31/08/2020	4,000,000	31/08/2025	\$Nil	2.50	Yes
TI1AE/F	Tranche 4 ^(iv)	31/08/2020	4,000,000	31/08/2025	\$Nil	1.79	Yes
TIPR24	Tranche 1 ^(v)	22/12/2022	3,750,000	22/12/2024	\$Nil	2.40	Yes
TIPR24	Tranche 2 ^(vI)	22/12/2022	3,750,000	22/12/2024	\$Nil	2.40	Yes
TIPR25	Tranche 1 ^(vii)	24/05/2023	1,875,000	24/05/2025	\$Nil	2.20	No
TIPR25	Tranche 2 ^(viii)	24/05/2023	1,875,000	24/05/2025	\$Nil	2.20	No

- (i) TI1AE/F Tranche 1 vesting is subject to the Group achieving in respect of the Tombador Project, an aggregate of at least 30,000 tonnes of cumulative iron ore production sold to third party customers from the Tenement with a grade greater than 62% Fe.
- (ii) TI1AE/F Tranche 2 vesting is subject to the Group achieving in respect of the Tombador Project, an aggregate of at least 1,000,000 tonnes of cumulative iron ore production sold to third party customers from the Tenement with a grade greater than 62% Fe.
- (iii) TI1AE/F Tranche 3 vesting is subject to the Group achieving net positive operational cashflows (as evidence by the Appendix 5B to the ASX).
- (iv) TI1AE/F Tranche 4 vesting is subject to the Group achieving in respect of the Tombador Project, an aggregate of at least 25,000 tonnes of cumulative iron ore production per month for 3 months with a cut-off grade greater than 62% Fe and the Group's Shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of \$0.05 or more for at least 20 consecutive trading days.
- (v) TIPR24 Tranche 1 vesting is subject to the Group achieving a net positive operational cashflow for the 12-month period ended 30 June 2023 greater than the financial year ended 30 June 2022, as evidenced by the reviewed financial report for 30 June 2023**.
- (vi) TIPR24 Tranche 2 vesting is subject to the achievement by the Group of a minimum production quota of 600,000 tonnes with Fe grade of 62% or higher and a minimum sales quota of 480,000 tonnes of Fe grade of 62% or higher from the Tombador Iron Project in Brazil.



- (v) TIPR25 Tranche 1 vesting is subject to the Group achieving a net positive operational cashflow for the 6 months from 1 July 2023 and ending on 31 December 2023 than the financial half year ended 31 December 2022, as evidenced by the audited financial report for 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2023. The Group has deemed it not probable that these performance shares will vest.
- (vi) TIPR25 Tranche 2 vesting is subject to the achievement by the Group of a minimum production quota of 300,000 tonnes with Fe grade of 62% or higher and a minimum sales quota of 240,000 tonnes of Fe grade of 62% or higher from the Tombador Iron Project in Brazil for 6 months from 1 July 2023 and ending on 31 December 2023. The Group has deemed it not probable that these performance shares will vest.

22. Remuneration of auditors

During the period the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by HLB Mann Judd Australia (HLB) as the auditor of the parent entity, Tombador Iron Limited, by HLB's related network firms and by non-related audit firms:

a) Auditors of the Group – HLB Mann Judd

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by HLB Mann Judd (HLB) as the auditor of the parent entity, Tombador Iron Limited, by HLB's related network firms and by non-related audit firms:

	12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$	12 months ended 31 December 2022 \$
Audit and review of financial reports	0.5.004	
Group	96,231	119,346
Controlled entities		
Total audit and review of financial reports	96,231	119,346

No non-audit services have been provided by HLB.

b) Auditors of Tombador Iron Mineracao Ltda - HLB Brazil

	12 months ended 31 December 2023 \$	12 months ended 31 December 2022 \$
Audit and review of financial reports		
Controlled entities	29,251	32,376
Total services provided by HLB Brazil	29,251	50,533



^{**} In light of the update to the end of financial year to December year end, this vesting condition has been modified to reflect this timing change.

23. Parent entity financial information

a) Summary financial information

The individual financial statements for the parent entity, Tombador Iron Ltd, show the following aggregate amounts:

	31 December 2023 \$	31 December 2022 \$
Current Assets	1,582,155	5,648,726
Non-Current Assets	12,408,626	21,875,504
Total Assets	13,990,781	27,524,230
Current Liabilities	812,165	828,481
Non-Current Liabilities	<u> </u>	
Total Liabilities	812,165	828,481
Net Assets	13,178,616	26,695,749
Equity		
Issued capital	36,443,646	36,443,646
Reserves	1,421,858	1,124,032
Accumulated losses	(24,686,888)	(10,871,929)
Total Equity	13,178,616	26,695,749

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

	12 months ended 31 December 2023	12 months ended 31 December 2022	
	\$	\$	
Loss after income tax	(13,814,959)	(3,639,296)	
Total comprehensive loss for the year	(13,814,959)	(3,639,296)	

24. Summary of significant accounting policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other notes above. These policies have been consistently applied to the period presented. These financial statements present the financial information for Tombador Iron Limited as a Group consisting of Tombador Iron Limited and the entities controlled throughout the period (Group).

a) Basis of preparation

These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Tombador Iron Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.



Compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of the Tombador Iron Limited Group also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

ii. Historical cost convention.

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

iii. New or Amended Accounting Standards and interpretations adopted

The group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

b) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ('the functional currency'). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group's functional and presentation currency.

ii. Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
- Income and expenses for the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
 are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of
 the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
 and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and
- All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, a proportionate share of such exchange differences are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, as part of the gain or loss on sale where applicable. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entities and translated at the closing rate.



c) Goods and services tax (GST and Brazilian equivalents)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

- when the GST (and equivalents) incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST (and equivalents) is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
- receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST (and equivalents) included.

The net amount of GST (and equivalents) recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST (and equivalents) component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST (and equivalents) recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

d) Comparative Figures

When required by accounting standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current financial year.



DIRECTORS DECLARATION

In the directors' opinion:

- (a) the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the *Corporations Act* 2001, including:
 - (i) complying with Accounting Standards, the *Corporations Regulations 2001* and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and
 - (ii) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position for the year ended 31 December 2023 and of its performance for the financial period end on that date.
- (b) the financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.
- (c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

On behalf of the Directors

Anna Neuling

Non-Executive Chair

20 June 2024





INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of Tombador Iron Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Tombador Iron Limited ("the Company") and its controlled entities ("the Group"), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, and the directors' declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the *Corporations Act* 2001, including:

- (a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2023 and of its financial performance for the year then ended; and
- (b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report* section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the *Corporations Act 2001* and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)* ("the Code") that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

hlb.com.au

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) ABN 22 193 232 714

Level 4, 130 Stirling Street, Perth WA 6000 / PO Box 8124 Perth BC WA 6849 **T:** +61 (0)8 9227 7500 **E:** mailbox@hlbwa.com.au Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) is a member of HLB International, the global advisory and accounting network.



Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Accounting for sale of subsidiary Refer to note 16 in the financial statements

During the year, the Company disposed of its subsidiary, Tombador Iron Minercao. This subsidiary and its operations represented a significant segment of the business.

The recognition and disclosure of these transactions in the financial report is complex and required significant audit attention, as the Group needed to separate its assets, liabilities and operations into continuing and discontinued business operations which has a significant and pervasive impact on the financial results and report of the Group.

We focussed on this matter because of the importance to readers of the financial report of the allocation of the loss from continued and discontinued operations.

Our procedures included but were not limited to the following:

- We obtained an understanding of the key processes associated with management's accounting for the sale transaction;
- We read and considered the sales agreements;
- We recalculated the carrying value of the assets and liabilities disposed of and ensured that these were accurately separated from the continuing business;
- We substantiated sale proceeds to supporting documentation;
- We re-performed the calculations of the loss on disposal by comparing the consideration received to the carrying value of the identified assets and liabilities;
- We ensured compliance with AASB 5 Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations;
- We considered the requirements of AASB 121
 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
 Rates in relation to Disposal of a Foreign
 Operation;
- We considered the tax implications of the sale; and
- We assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures in the financial report.

Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor's Report Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Group's annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023, but does not include the financial report and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.



Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the *Corporations Act 2001* and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
 are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
 effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.



We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT

Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included within the directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Tombador Iron Limited for the year ended 31 December 2023 complies with Section 300A of the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the *Corporations Act 2001*. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

HLB Mann Judd Chartered Accountants

HLB Mann Juckel

Perth, Western Australia 20 June 2024 D I Buckley Partner

ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at the dates specified.

Unlisted Securities (Current as at 11 June 2024)

	Number on Issue	Number of Holders
TI1AA - unlisted options exercisable at \$0.052 expiring 14/10/2025	4,750,000	2
TI1AE - performance rights expiring 01/09/2025	2,125,000	4
TIPR24 - performance rights expiring 22/12/2024	7,500,000	4
TIPR25 - performance rights expiring 31/05/2025	3,750,000	4

Holders of over 20% of unlisted securities

Substantial holders of more than 20% of unlisted securities as at 11 June 2024 are set out below:

Holder Name	Number of Shares	% of Issued Capital
ANGELS WISH PTY LIMITED <angels a="" c="" wish=""></angels>	4,500,000	24.83%

Distribution of Equity Securities

Analysis of numbers of ordinary shareholders by size of holding:

	Holders	Number of Units	% of Issued Capital
above 0 up to and including 1,000	63	9,009	0.00
above 1,000 up to and including 5,000	17	49,445	0.00
above 5,000 up to and including 10,000	165	1,341,465	0.06
above 10,000 up to and including 100,000	756	34,668,816	1.61
above 100,000	966	2,122,413,638	98.33
TOTALS:	1,967	2,158,482,373	100.00

There are 607 holders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares based on the closing market price as at 6 October 2023 which is the last day of trading prior to the Company going into a trading halt and subsequent voluntary suspension.

Ordinary Shares Subject to Escrow

There are no equity securities currently subject to either regulatory or voluntary escrow.

On-market Buy-Back

There is no current on-market buy-back.

Voting Rights

The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below:

- a) Ordinary Shares: On a show of hands every member present at a meeting of by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote.
- b) Options: The securities have no voting rights.
- c) Performance Rights: The securities have no voting rights.



ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION

Substantial Holders (Current as at 31 May 2024)

Substantial holders of equity securities in the Company as per the substantial shareholders notices are set out below:

Holder Name	Number of Shares	% of Issued Capital
COLOMI SINGAPORE PTE LTD & MCRAE INVESTMENTS PTY LTD	988,127,099	46.24%

Equity Security Holders (Current as at 10 June 2024)

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities (ordinary shares) are listed below:

	Holder Name	Number of	% of
		Shares	Issued Capital
1	COLOMI SINGAPORE PTE LTD	944,463,354	43.76
2	NORTRUST NOMINEES LIMITED	86,005,337	3.98
3	MCRAE INVESTMENTS PTY LTD	43,663,745	2.02
4	BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD	34,648,384	1.61
	<ib au="" client="" drp="" noms="" retail=""></ib>	34,046,364	1.01
5	MANNWEST GROUP PTY LTD	32,101,265	1.49
6	IRAL PTY LTD <iral a="" c=""></iral>	25,000,000	1.16
7	BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <drp></drp>	24,670,741	1.14
8	JSC WEALTH MANAGEMENT PTY LTD	20,316,859	0.94
9	MR SCOTT SPENCER PAPPIN & MRS TRACEY LEE PAPPIN	17,790,100	0.82
	<pappin a="" c="" fund="" super=""></pappin>	17,790,100	0.82
10	KEITH STUART LIDDELL & SHELAGH JANE LIDDELL	16,779,936	0.78
11	MR JAMES MURCH & MRS CATHERINE MURCH	14,000,000	0.65
	<minjal a="" c="" fund="" super=""></minjal>	14,000,000	0.03
12	BOODUP NOMINEES PTY LTD	13,000,000	0.60
	<otter a="" c="" fund="" super=""></otter>	, ,	
13	UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD	11,594,937	0.54
14	THE MAMF GROUP PTY LTD	11,436,307	0.53
15	JOHN DAHLSEN SUPERANNUATION FUND PTY LTD	10,718,000	0.50
16	GIOKIR PTY LTD	9,287,334	0.43
17	NOORAMA INVESTMENTS PTY LTD	9,200,000	0.43
	<noorama a="" c="" superannuation=""></noorama>	9,200,000	0.43
18	ARDROY SECURITIES PTY LTD	8,000,000	0.37
	<cameron a="" c="" investment="" unit=""></cameron>		
19	SUPERHERO SECURITIES LIMITED <client a="" c=""></client>	7,953,693	0.37
20	MUHLBAUER INVESTMENTS PTY LTD	7,634,667	0.35
	<muhlbauer a="" c="" family=""></muhlbauer>		
	TOTALS:	1,348,264,659	62.47



TENEMENTS

Tenements at 31 December 2023

The Company has no interest in tenements as at 31 December 2023.



TOMBADOR IRON